APPEAL NO. 32751

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS OF THE CASE

On May 6, 2002, Jeremiah "Bart" Morris, a Virginia resident, suffered a severe left leg injury while operating a stand-up forklift at his place of employment in Grottoes, Virginia. His left leg was ultimately amputated as a result of the injury. [Complaint ¶¶1, 4].

The forklift was designed, manufactured, and distributed by Crown Equipment Corporation, which is incorporated in and has its principal place of business in the State of Ohio. [Complaint ¶¶2, 5]. The forklift was distributed, installed, and serviced by Jefferds Corporation d/b/a Homestead Materials Handling Company, which is incorporated in and has its principal place of business in Kanawha County, West Virginia. [Complaint ¶¶3, 6].

Mr. Morris filed this products liability action in the Circuit Court of Kanawha County on April 30, 2004 against Crown and Jefferds alleging theories of recovery based upon negligence, strict liability, failure to warn, and breach of warranty, as well as asserting a claim for punitive damages. [Complaint ¶¶ 10-26].

Neither Crown, nor Jefferds answered the Complaint. Rather, on June 11, 2004, Crown and Jefferds both moved to dismiss the Complaint for lack of venue pursuant to West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b) and recently amended West Virginia Code §56-1-1(c) which states that "a nonresident of the state may not bring an action in a court of this state unless all or a substantial portion of the acts or omissions giving rise to the claim asserted occurred in this state[.]" [Crown Equipment Corporation's Motion to Dismiss for Improper Venue; Motion to Dismiss by Defendant Jefferds Corporation].

Morris responded to the Defendants' motions to dismiss on June 24, 2004, raising constitutionality objections to the amended venue statute and seeking leave to amend his complaint to add venue allegations. [Plaintiff's Response to Defendants' Crown and Jefferds Motions to Dismiss and to Crown's Motion for Protective Order pp. 2-5]. In a further effort to remedy the Defendants' venue objections, on August 20, 2004, Mr. Morris moved to amend the Complaint to add venue allegations and also amended his response to the motions to dismiss citing those venue allegations. [Plaintiff's Amended Response to Defendants' Crown and Jefferds Motions to Dismiss and to Crown's Motion for Protective Order; Plaintiff's Motion to Amend Complaint]. Neither Defendant responded, nor otherwise objected to the amendment to the Complaint.

On September 1, 2004, Judge Kaufman heard arguments on the Defendants' motions to dismiss and requested that the parties submit proposed orders. Morris argued *inter alia* that Jefferds was a valid venue-giving defendant and that Crown could therefore be joined as a proper party defendant. [Tr. Sept. 1 hearing, pp. 10-11]

During the hearing, on September 1st, Jefferds tendered, and the Court accepted and considered the "Affidavit" of David Sorrells in support of its motion to dismiss. [Affidavit]. Later that day, Judge Kaufman entered the order tendered by counsel for Crown, dismissing Crown from this matter. [September 1, 2004 "Order"].

On September 7, 2004, Mr. Morris filed "Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider" raising additional arguments against the applicability of West Virginia Code §56-1-1(c). [Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider]. On November 10, 2004, Crown responded to the motion for reconsideration. Jefferds did not file a response. [Crown Equipment Corporation's Opposition

to Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider].

On November 22, 2004, Mr. Morris tendered "Plaintiff's Supplemental Memorandum" wherein he reiterated several of his arguments and renewed his motion to amend the Complaint. [Plaintiff's Supplemental Memorandum]. Attached to "Plaintiff's Supplemental Memorandum" was a revised "Amended Complaint" which addressed the evolving arguments of the Defendants regarding venue. [Attachment A to Plaintiff's Supplemental Memorandum].

On November 24, 2004, Judge Kaufman entered the order tendered by counsel for Jefferds, dismissing Jefferds from this matter. [November 24, 2004 "Order"].

III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR RELIED UPON ON APPEAL AND THE MANNER IN WHICH THEY WERE DECIDED IN THE LOWER TRIBUNAL

Assignment of Error A. The Circuit Court committed reversible error in failing to hold West Virginia Code §56-1-1(c) unconstitutional pursuant to the Privileges and Immunities Clause of the U.S. Constitution (U.S. Const. Art. IV., §2, Cl. 1) and the Open Courts Clause of the West Virginia Constitution (W.Va. Const. Art. III, §17).

Manner decided in Circuit Court: Interestingly, although the arguments in the memoranda and pleadings filed by the parties, and a segment of the initial oral arguments on September 12th, addressed the Constitutional issues, Judge Kaufmann did not mention the phrases "Privileges and Immunities" or "open courts" in either hearing below. [Tr. Sept 1. hearing and Tr. Nov. 12 hearing]. Nor, did he rule from the bench on any aspect of these constitutional issues. Instead, the Court entered an order prepared and tendered by Crown's counsel at the September 1,

2004, hearing, granting the motion to dismiss of Crown. That order was silent on the Constitutional issues. After a subsequent hearing on November 12, 2004, the Court entered another order granting Jeffers' motion to dismiss. That order, entered on November 24, 2004, again failed to address either Constitutional issue asserted by Morris. On November 12, 2004, Judge Kaufman heard arguments from the parties on the motion to reconsider and requested that the parties submit any additional memoranda and/or proposed orders. On November 29, 2004, the court entered the final order denying Mr. Morris' motion for reconsideration. It too, was silent on the constitutional issues. However, by entry of the three orders relying upon the amended venue statute, the Circuit Court rejected the Constitutional arguments advanced by Morris.

Assignment of Error B. The Circuit Court committed reversible error in failing to grant Morris' motion to amend the Complaint (particularly given that the Circuit Court, nevertheless, relied on the Amended Complaint in ruling on the Defendants' motions to dismiss).

Manner decided in Circuit Court: The Court failed to rule on the motion to amend the Complaint and first amended complaint in any of the 3 orders being reviewed in this appeal. However, the Order of September 1st alludes to the proposed amended complaint in the body of the order [p. 1], in the findings of fact [p. 2 ¶¶ 5, 7, 8] and in the conclusions of law [pp. 3-4, ¶ ¶ 6,7, 8, 10]. The order entered on November 24th likewise alludes to the motion to amend the complaint and proposed amended complaint in the body of the order [p.1], in the findings of fact [p. 2, ¶ 5], and in the conclusions of law [p. 3, ¶ 7]. Furthermore, none of the orders address the revised amended complaint which was attached to the Plaintiff's Supplemental Memorandum of November 22, 2004.

Assignment of Error C. The Circuit Court committed reversible error in failing to hold that Morris had complied with the venue requirements of West Virginia Code §56-1-1(c) by alleging that Jefferds Corporation had engaged in substantial acts or omissions in West Virginia.

Manner decided in Circuit Court: The Circuit Court concluded that Morris had not complied with the requirements of § 56-1-1(c) as to Crown in its order of September 1st holding (1) that the statute required establishing venue separately as to each Defendant, and (2) that Morris omitted any allegations that all, or a substantial portion of the acts or omissions attributed to Crown occurred in West Virginia. [Sept. 1 Order, Findings of Fact ¶¶ 5, 6, 7]. With respect to Jefferds in the November 24th order, the Court found that Morris failed to produce any fact to establish that all or a substantial part of any acts or omissions giving rise to his claim occurred in this State [Nov. 24 Order, Findings of Fact ¶ 4], and concluded that § 56-1-1 (c) does not differentiate between domestic and foreign entities when suits are filed by non-residents, hence all or a substantial part of the acts or omissions must occur within this State. [Nov. 24 Order, Conclusions of Law ¶¶ 5 - 7]. This Order disregards the allegations in Paragraph 7, subparagraphs d, e, f, g, h, i, j, and k of the Amended Complaint and Paragraph 10(a) and 10(b), subparagraphs i, ii, iii, iv, v, vi, vii, viii, ix, x, and xi of the Revised Amended Complaint, which satisfy the venue giving requirements of both §§56-1-1(a)(2) and 56-1-1(c). Instead, the Court partially based its findings upon an affidavit tendered by a Jefferds' employee controverting some of these venue-specific allegations, (thereby effectively converting the motion to dismiss proceeding to a summary judgment motion without first permitting Plaintiff to exercise any discovery to test the affidavit). Finally, the November 29th Order denying Morris' Motion to Reconsider reiterates the conclusion that a non-resident must establish the venue as to each defendant against whom a claim is asserted. (p. 2-3, ¶¶ 5, 7].

Assignment of Error D. The Circuit Court committed reversible error in holding that West Virginia Code §56-1-1(c) requires Morris to separately establish venue as to each individual defendant, and in failing to hold that since venue was proper as to Jefferds Corporation under West Virginia Code §56-1-1(c), venue was also proper as to Crown Equipment Corporation.

Manner decided in Circuit Court: As pointed out above, the Circuit Court held that under the language of the recently amended provisions of West Virginia Code, § 56-1-1, a non-resident must separately establish venue as to each defendant, and, with respect to Jefferds Corporation, held that proper venue was not established even though it was a West Virginia corporation doing business in this State with its principal place of business located in Kanawha County. The court concluded that Morris had failed to establish that all, or a substantial part of any acts or omissions of Jefferds occurred within West Virginia. [Nov. 24 Order, pp. 2-3, Conclusions of Law ¶¶ 5, 6, 7]. It concluded that venue must be established as to each defendant on the face of the Complaint or proposed Amended Complaint (Sept. 1 Order, pp. 3-4, Conclusions of Law ¶¶ 7, 8]. Hence, the Court effectively concluded that the existing law and precedent governing venue-giving defendants did not apply in this case.

Assignment of Error E. The Circuit Court committed reversible error by applying the wrong legal standards in ruling on Jefferds Corporation's motion to dismiss.

Manner decided in Circuit Court: As noted above, the Circuit Court relied solely on subsection c of West Virginia Code, § 56-1-1 to determine venue in cases brought by non-residents against domestic corporations doing business in this State. It apparently disregarded the provisions West Virginia Code, § 56-1-1(a)(2) which holds that venue lies against a domestic corporation doing

business in this State wherein its principal office is located, or where its president or principal officer resides. It also apparently disregarded the allegations in the Complaint, Amended Complaint and Revised Amended Complaint mentioned above which also satisfy the requirements of §56-1-1(c).

Assignment of Error F. The Circuit Court committed reversible error by failing to permit Morris to conduct discovery in opposition to Jefferds Corporation's motion to dismiss.

Manner decided in Circuit Court: Morris served discovery requests upon Defendants at the time the Complaint was served. He later made several written requests for discovery (1) as part of Plaintiff's Response to Defendants' Crown and Jefferds Motions to Dismiss and to Crown's Motion for a Protective Order (Response, pp. 6-7); and (2) as part of Plaintiff's Amended Response to Defendants' Crown and Jefferds Motions to Dismiss and to Crown's Motion for a Protective Order [Amended Response, pp. 6-7].

As indicated above, the Court effectively converted the Motions to Dismiss to motions for summary judgment when it considered the affidavit of David Sorrells submitted in support of Jefferds. [Nov. 24 Order, p. 1 and p. 3, Conclusion of Law ¶ 6]. And the affidavit was specifically discussed in the hearing of September 1, first by Jefferds' counsel when he offered the affidavit in support of his motion to dismiss [Tr. Sept. 1 hearing, pp. 8-9], and later in the hearing when Morris' counsel pointed out that the pending motion was a motion to dismiss even though Jefferds had tendered the affidavit [Tr. Sept. 1 hearing, p. 13]. Twice, at that hearing Morris' counsel requested orally that Morris be given the opportunity to conduct discovery [Tr. Sept. 1 hearing, p. 13, 15, 21, 23]. Ultimately, the Court received the affidavit and made it a part of the record. [Tr. Sept. 1 hearing, p. 24]. The same sequence occurred at the November 12th hearing when the affidavit was discussed

first by Jefferds' counsel [Tr. Nov. 12 hearing, p. 10], and then by Morris' counsel who argued that consideration of the affidavit changes the motion to one for summary judgment, which would entitle Morris to complete discovery [Tr. Nov. 12 hearing, p. 12].

Despite the repeated requests, the Court dismissed the action without ruling upon Morris' requests for discovery thereby effectively denying the discovery requests.

Assignment of Error G. The Circuit Court erred in holding that West Virginia Code §56-1-1 (c) requires the filing of an affidavit of inability to obtain jurisdiction over the defendant in cases where a non-resident plaintiff has alleged that a defendant engaged in substantial acts or omissions in the State of West Virginia.

Manner decided in Circuit Court: In the September 1 hearing [p. 9], Jefferds' counsel asserted that Morris was required to file an affidavit if he is unable to get jurisdiction over the defendant in the sister jurisdiction under West Virginia Code, § 56-1-1(c). In both the Sept. 1 Order [p. 2, ¶8], and the Nov. 24 Order [p.2, ¶ 5], the Court found that Plaintiff had not filed an affidavit of inability to obtain jurisdiction over the defendant. The November 29 order adopted all of the Court's findings in the September 1 hearing by reference [Nov. 29 Order, p. 1] , and denied Morris' motion for reconsideration and granted dismissal of his lawsuit.

IV. POINTS AND AUTHORITIES RELIED UPON.

Statute at Issue in This Appeal - West Virginia Code, § 56-1-1²

A. Effective June 4, 2003, West Virginia Code §56-1-1, the general venue statute, was amended to add a subsection (c) as follows:

(c) Effective for actions filed after the effective date of this section, a nonresident of the state may not bring an action in a court of this state unless all or a substantial part of the acts or omissions giving rise to the claim asserted occurred in this state: Provided, that unless barred by the statute of limitations or otherwise time barred in the state where the action arose, a nonresident of this state may file an action in state court in this state if the nonresident cannot obtain jurisdiction in either federal or state court against the defendant in the state where the action arose. A nonresident bringing such an action in this state shall be required to establish, by filing an affidavit with the complaint for consideration by the court, that such action cannot be maintained in the state where the action arose due to lack of any legal basis to obtain personal jurisdiction over the defendant.

In any civil action where more than one plaintiff is joined, each plaintiff must independently establish proper venue. A person may not intervene or join in a pending civil action as a plaintiff unless the person independently establishes proper venue. If venue is not proper as to any such nonresident plaintiff in any court of this state, the court shall dismiss the claims of the plaintiff without prejudice to refile in a court in any other state or jurisdiction.

B. Constitutional challenges to a statute are reviewed pursuant to a *de novo* standard of review. West Virginia ex rel. Citizens Action Group v. West Virginia Economic Development Grant Committee, 213 W.Va. 255, 261-262 (2003).

C. The Privileges and Immunities Clause of the U.S. Constitution provides that “The citizens of each State shall be entitled to all Privileges and Immunities of Citizens in the several States.” U.S. Const. Art. IV, §2, Cl. 1.

D. The U.S. Supreme Court has held that the terms “citizen” and “resident” are

² See the Addendum for the complete body of West Virginia Code, § 56-1-1.

interchangeable for purposes of analysis of most cases under the Privileges and Immunities Clause. United Building & Construction Trades Council of Camden County and Vicinity v. Mayor and Council of the City of Camden, 465 U.S. 208, 216 (1984).

E. A non-resident's interest in access to a state's courts is a fundamental interest falling within the scope of the Privileges and Immunities Clause. Missouri Pacific Railroad Co. v. Clarendon Boar Oar Co., 257 U.S. 533, 535 (1922); Travis v. Yale & Towne Manufacturing Co., 252 U.S. 60, 78 (1920); Chambers v. Baltimore & Ohio Railroad Co., 207 U.S. 142, 148 (1907).

F. While a state government may decide whether and to what extent the courts will entertain transitory actions which have arisen in other jurisdictions, those policy decisions must operate in the same way with respect to citizens of the state and non-citizens. Chambers, 207 U.S. at 148-149.

G. "Any law by which privileges to begin actions in the courts are given to its own citizens and withheld from the citizens of other States is void, because it is in conflict with the supreme law of the land." Id. at 149-150; *see also* Missouri ex rel. Southern Railway Co. v. Mayfield, 340 U.S. 1, 3-4 (1950); Miles v. Illinois Central Railroad Co., 315 U.S. 698, 704 (1942).

H. Under the Privileges and Immunities Clause, "If defendant were a domestic corporation, there would be no doubt of plaintiff's right to sue in this State on her cause of action." Gober v. Federal Life Ins. Co., 255 Mich. 20, 24, 237 N.W. 32, 33 (Mich. 1931).

I. "The courts of this State shall be open, and every person for an injury done to him, in his person, property, or reputation, shall have remedy by due course of law; and justice shall be administered without sale, denial, or delay." W.Va. Const. Art. 3, §17.

J. All men are, by nature, equally free and independent, and have certain inherent rights,

of which, when they enter into a state of society, they cannot, by any compact, deprive or divest their posterity, namely: the enjoyment of life and liberty, with the means of acquiring and possessing property, and of pursuing and obtaining happiness and safety. W.Va. Const. Art. 3, § 1

K. A trial court's ruling on a motion to amend is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. Barney v. Auvil, 195 W.Va. 733, 737 (1995).

L. A party may amend a pleading by leave of court, and that such leave shall be freely given when justice requires. W.Va.R.Civ.P. 15(a).

M. Rule 15 amendments should rarely be denied and are generally allowed to cure jurisdictional or venue defects. Brooks v. Isinghood, 213 W.Va. 675, 684, 685 n.7 (2003).

N. A motion to dismiss based upon improper venue is to be decided on the face of the pleadings. Rhododendron Furniture & Design, Inc. v. Marshall, 214 W.Va. 463, 466 (2003).

O. A trial court's ruling on a motion to dismiss is reviewed under a *de novo* standard. Kopelman and Associates v. Collins, 196 W.Va. 489, 492 (1996).

P. In ruling on a motion to dismiss, the allegations of a complaint are to be taken as true and all reasonable inferences resolved in favor of the plaintiff. John W. Lodge Distributing Co. v. Texaco, 161 W.Va. 603, 605 (1978).

Q. A trial court's ruling on a question of law is reviewed under a *de novo* standard. Lawson v. Hash and Benford, 209 W.Va. 230, 232 (2001).

R. A civil action against a domestic corporation, except where it is otherwise specially provided, may be brought in the circuit court of any county wherein its principal office is located or wherein its president or other chief officer resides. West Virginia Code, § 56-1-1(a)(2).

S. "[O]nce venue is proper for one defendant, it is proper for all other defendants subject

to process.” *See e.g.*, McGuire v. Fitzsimmons, 197 W.Va. 132, 137 (1996); Kenamond v. Warmuth, 179 W.Va. 230, 231-232 (1988); Union Carbide & Carbon Corp. v. Linville, 142 W.Va. 160, 164-165 (1956); Webber v. Offhaus, 135 W.Va. 138, 146-147 (1950); McConaughy & Co. v. Bennett, 50 W.Va. 172, 179 (1901).

T. It shall not be necessary in any declaration or other pleading to set forth the place in which any contract was made, or act done, unless when, from the nature of the case, the place is material or traversable, and then the allegation may be, as to a deed, note or other writing bearing date at any place, that it was made at such place, or as to any other act, according to the fact, without averring or suggesting that it was at or in the county in which the action is brought, unless it was in fact therein. West Virginia Code, § 56-4-14.

U. It shall not be necessary in any action to aver that the cause of action arose, or that the matter is, within the jurisdiction of the court, or to make profert of any deed, letters testamentary, or commission of administration; but any party may have oyer in like manner as if profert were made. West Virginia Code, §56-14-15

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