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

West Virginia Code § 56-1-1(c) is constitutionally valid. It does not discriminate against non-residents, *per se*. Rather, it excludes only those actions brought by non-resident plaintiffs whose cause of action did not arise in West Virginia and which can be brought in the jurisdiction in which the claim took place. Such a limited restriction allows the State to advance the legitimate and substantial state interest of preventing forum shopping, reducing overcrowding, and preserving judicial resources for residents and those non-residents whose claims have substantial relationship with the State. It

further prevents West Virginia from becoming a haven for non-resident plaintiffs who believe West Virginia's law may be more favorable than that of their home state.

Accordingly, W.Va. Code § 56-1-1(c) is constitutional and serves a legitimate purpose.

Appellant should have filed his lawsuit in Virginia, where a substantial part of the acts or omissions giving rise to the claim occurred.

3. West Virginia Code § 56-1-1(c) Requires Appellant To Separately Establish Venue As To Each Defendant.

Appellant also argues that the circuit court erred in finding that W.Va. Code § 56-1-1(c) requires him to establish venue as to Crown, i.e., that under this provision, the plaintiff cannot establish venue as to all defendants simply by showing that the court has venue over one defendant. Appellant concedes that he has not alleged that Crown committed any act or omission in West Virginia giving rise to his specific claim. (See App. Br. at 39; Am. Compl.) Rather, Plaintiff hopes that the court will ignore both the absence of process over Crown and the intent of the legislature when it enacted W.Va. Code § 56-1-1(c), and will find venue over Crown because he thinks he has alleged sufficient facts to establish venue over Jefferds. As already demonstrated, Plaintiff's complaints have not sufficiently alleged facts to establish venue over Jefferds.

Accordingly, this argument is moot. However, for purposes of this argument only, Crown will assume that this Court would find that venue is proper for Jefferds in West Virginia.

While Appellant is correct that West Virginia follows the venue-giving principle, whereby venue can be found as to all defendants if it is proper for one, he forgets the

critical distinction here that makes the principle inapplicable: this principle only applies when all defendants are residents of West Virginia or the State otherwise has jurisdiction over all defendants. Crown is not a West Virginia corporation, and Crown is not alleged to have committed any act in West Virginia giving rise to the present action. Thus, because Crown is not subject to process in this state,⁶ venue cannot be established simply by showing venue is proper for its co-defendant.

As the cases cited by Appellant in support of his argument (App. Br. at 37) show, the fact situations involving the venue-giving principle involve West Virginia residents, and the issue to be determined is which county of West Virginia should have venue. (See App. Br. at 37 (citing cases applying the venue-giving principle)). Indeed, this Court in McConaughey & Co. v. Bennett, which Appellant concedes is the “seminal case from which the other cases [he cites] are derived” (App. Br. at 37), made clear that this principle applies only to state residents. “[W]here the circuit court of a county has jurisdiction as to one of the proper parties defendant, the others, being residents of the state, are subject to its process and jurisdiction, also.” 50 W.Va. 172, 40 S.E. 540, 542 (1901) (emphasis added).

The only case cited by Appellant regarding non-residents involved a cause of action that arose from an auto accident that occurred in West Virginia, and the issue to be determined was whether the defendants, two of whom were non-residents subject to service under the state motor vehicle statute, were required to defend against the action in

⁶ The long arm statute does not apply because Appellant has not brought a “cause of action arising from or growing out of [any] act or acts” committed by Crown in West Virginia. See W.Va. Code § 56-3-3.

the county in which the accident took place. See Union Carbide & Carbon Corp. v. Linville, 142 W. Va. 160, 164-65, 95 S.E.2d 54 (1956). Contrarily, here, the accident from which Appellant's cause of action arose occurred entirely in Virginia.

Appellant sets forth no argument to address the simple fact that, to advance the intent of the statute to preserve its courts for West Virginia residents and non-residents whose claims took place in West Virginia, under the specific provision at issue the legislature made a marked decision that the plaintiff must establish venue as to each defendant.

This Court previously has expressed its limited role regarding West Virginia's policies on venue.

To be clear, the West Virginia Legislature is the paramount authority for deciding and resolving policy issues pertaining to venue matters. Once the Legislature indicates its preference by the enactment of a statute, the Court's role is limited. Our duty is to interpret the statute, not to expand or enlarge upon it. More significantly, any subsequent policy changes must come from the Legislature itself and, in the absence of constitutional or statutory authority to the contrary, this Court has no blanket power to recast the statute to meet its fancy.

Riffle v. Ranson, 195 W. Va. 121, 126 (1995) (citations omitted).

Under West Virginia law, two presumptions apply when interpreting legislative intent: "First, the Legislature is presumed to have known and understood the laws they had earlier enacted. Second, courts must presume that a legislature says in a statute what it means and means in a statute what it says there." See Appalachian Power Company v. State Tax Department of West Virginia, 195 W.Va. 573, 585-586, 466 S.E.2d 424, 436-437 (1995) (citations omitted).

Unlike the older subsections of the statute, which follow the venue-giving defendant principle but which refer to "civil action" or "cause of action," subsection (c) introduces the word "claim." See W.Va. Code § 56-1-1(c) ("... unless all or a substantial part of the acts or omissions giving rise to the claim asserted occurred in this state.") (emphasis added). Presuming, as is required, that the Legislature understood what it meant by the old statute, its decision to add a paragraph that introduced a new term, "claim," signifies that the Legislature intended a different meaning from its use of "cause of action" or "civil action." The use of the word "claim," a clearly singular term, reflects the intent that venue must be established by the non-resident plaintiff as to each defendant. Had the Legislature intended the rule requiring only a single venue-giving defendant to apply, it would have either expressly stated so or repeated the terminology used in the earlier portions of the statute.

This Court has stated that if the Legislature limits application of a rule or amends it for a specific set of facts, courts should assume that modification was intentional. See Riffle v. Ranson, 195 W. Va. 121, 128 (1995). The Legislature's use of different terminology for the limited circumstances addressed by subsection (c) signifies that it intended for the common law venue-giving rule not to apply in those instances. As this Court has recognized when discussing earlier revisions to the venue statute, "[West Virginia's] venue statutes are carefully sculpted" Id. The Legislature's use of different terminology in subsection (c) is particularly telling in light of its uniform use of the term "cause of action" in the other subsections, despite revisions to the statute in 1986. See Riffle, *supra* (discussing W.Va. Code § 56-1-1(b)).

Moreover, a logical assessment of subsection (c) reveals that the Legislature recognized that a limitation on the traditional venue-giving rule was necessary in the limited circumstances arising under W.Va. Code §56-1-1(c). The intent of the statute is to preserve the courts' resources for actions with a substantial relationship to the state, by preventing plaintiffs from forum shopping and protecting defendants from being hailed into court here when a substantial part of the acts or omissions that form the basis of the lawsuit occurred in another state. The traditional rule finding venue proper as to all defendants if proper for one defeats this legislative intent because it allows plaintiffs like Mr. Morris, who has no connection whatsoever to this State – either individually or by the nature of his allegations – and whose action appropriately lies in Virginia, to take advantage of this State's resources. Thus, the interpretation of the Legislature's use of the term "claim" in subsection (c) as requiring that the plaintiff allege sufficient facts to establish venue for each claim, and thus each defendant, "is compelled by both reason and common sense. To conclude otherwise would mean the Legislature did a useless act" when it added subsection (c) to the venue statute. See Riffle, 195 W. Va. at 128.

Appellant also engages in selective reading of subsection (c) in an effort to defy the clear implication that the Legislature intended for non-residents to establish venue for each defendant. While Appellant highlights the provision under subsection (c) requiring that plaintiffs establish venue individually to compare to the absence of such a clause regarding defendants, he ignores the critical clause conditioning that requirement on there being joinder of plaintiffs. The provision in complete form states, "In a civil action where more than one plaintiff is joined, each plaintiff must independently establish

proper venue.” (emphasis added). This provision makes sense in light of the Legislature’s focus on plaintiffs and intent to prevent forum shopping by plaintiffs like Mr. Morris who have no relationship or contacts to West Virginia. It likewise makes sense that the Legislature would not deem it necessary to include a specific provision expressly requiring that venue be established for each defendant where it is consistent with case law, statute, and legislative intent.

Finally, Appellant argues that “requiring a non-resident plaintiff to establish venue under West Virginia Code § 56-1-1(c) with respect to each defendant would create a conflict with respect to the procedural rules related to joinder of parties,” and would inhibit the goal of the joinder rule to prevent duplicated judicial efforts and piecemeal litigation (App. Br. at 38-39.) However, the Rules of Civil Procedure are clear that they “shall not be construed to extend or limit the jurisdiction of the courts or the venue of actions therein.” W.Va.R.Civ.P. 82. Moreover, subsection (c) is consistent with the mandatory joinder rule, which requires that an action be dismissed against any party who objects to venue and whose joinder would render venue of the action improper. See W.Va.R.Civ.P. 19(a). Such is the case with Crown.

Ironically, the extent to which there would be any “piecemeal litigation” is the direct result of Appellant’s attempt to litigate his claim in West Virginia, rather than Virginia, where the alleged acts or omissions occurred. Appellant could and should have sued Crown and Jefferds in Virginia, which would promote judicial economy and prevent the duplication of effort and uncertainty.

To advance its purpose of preventing forum shopping and preserving its judicial resources for West Virginia residents and non-residents whose claims took place in West Virginia, West Virginia Code § 56-1-1(c) requires that non-residents establish venue as to each defendant before venue will be found proper, and the circuit court appropriately so required. As Appellant concedes (see App. Br. at 39), because he has not alleged that Crown committed any act or omission in the state of West Virginia that gave rise to his cause of action, he cannot establish venue in West Virginia for his causes of action against Crown, and, accordingly, the circuit court did not err in dismissing the case against Crown.

4. West Virginia Code § 56-1-1(c) Required Appellant To File An Affidavit Of Inability To Obtain Jurisdiction.

The trial court did not err in concluding that Appellant was required to file an affidavit of inability to obtain jurisdiction outside of West Virginia. West Virginia Code § 56-1-1(c) prevents a non-resident from maintaining suit in West Virginia if a substantial part of the acts giving rise to the injury occurred elsewhere:

... Provided, that unless barred by the statute of limitations or otherwise time barred in the state where the action arose, a nonresident of this state may file an action in state court in this state if the nonresident cannot obtain jurisdiction in either federal or state court against the defendant in the state where the action arose. A nonresident bringing such an action in this state shall be required to establish, by filing an affidavit with the complaint for consideration by the court, that such action cannot be maintained in the state where the action arose due to lack of any legal basis to obtain personal jurisdiction over the defendant.

Because a substantial part of the alleged acts or omissions giving rise to Appellant's injuries took place in Virginia, to establish venue under subsection (c), he was required to submit an affidavit that he could not obtain jurisdiction there.

5. The Trial Court Properly Dismissed Appellant's Complaint Against Crown Without Permitting Him to Conduct Discovery.

This issue appears to be directed at Jefferds. As such, Crown adopts by reference and incorporates herein Jefferds arguments as to that issue, to the extent consistent with Crown's position. To the extent that it is directed to Crown, discovery would be improper because courts only consider pleadings under Rule 12(b) motions to dismiss. Rhododendron Furniture & Design, Inc., 214 W.Va. 463, 466 (2003). Crown submitted no additional materials to the court beyond its pleadings and, based solely on the pleadings, the lower court appropriately determined that venue was improper and dismissed the case against Crown. (See Order, 9/1/04, at 1 (listing the documents that the court considered.))

As admitted in the Amended Complaint, "Plaintiff Bart Morris was injured while operating a Crown 30RCTT190 stand-up forklift, serial number 1A129286 (hereinafter "the forklift"), at his place of employment, RMC Grottoes/Alcoa Flexible Packaging, in Grottoes, Virginia." (See Am. Compl. ¶ 2.) There simply is no allegation that Crown did anything whatsoever in West Virginia that gave rise to the present complaint. Accordingly, dismissal of the actions against Crown were appropriate. Besides, were the court to allow discovery, no discovery from Crown could assist the trial court in ruling on Crown's motion to dismiss.

B. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY NOT EXPRESSLY GRANTING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO AMEND.⁷

The trial court did not expressly deny Appellant's Motion to Amend.⁸ In fact, because the trial court did consider Appellant's proposed amended complaint when it granted the motions to dismiss, the logical assumption is that the court simply found that the proposed amended complaint still did not establish venue. Thus, even if the court had expressly granted the motion to amend, dismissal still would have been warranted.

Appellant agrees that a trial court's ruling on a motion to amend is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. (App. Br. at 30 (citing Barney v. Auvil, 195 W.Va. 733, 737 (1995))).

Appellant concedes that the circuit court considered his proposed amended complaint when it ruled on the motions to dismiss. (See App. Br. at 30.) Without any basis, Appellant assumes that because the court failed to find venue over either of the defendants, it must have denied the motion to amend. However, he fails to explain why a the court would have considered or mentioned in its orders an amended complaint the admission of which it had denied.

In any event, as demonstrated supra (Section V.A.1.), in neither complaint did Appellant allege that Crown committed any act or omission in West Virginia related to his claim. Furthermore, as argued previously, Appellant has not sufficiently alleged that Jefferds committed substantial acts or omissions in the state of West Virginia that gave

⁷ This section addresses assignment of error B identified in the Petition.

⁸ Accordingly, this court does not have jurisdiction to review this argument because there is no final judgment to review. However, because the circuit court considered the proposed amended complaint when determining whether to grant the motions to dismiss, Crown will address the argument.

rise to Appellant's claim. Accordingly, the technical denial of the motion to amend, if error at all, is harmless error because the allegations were considered by the trial court in ruling on Crown's motion to dismiss. See W.Va.R.Civ.P. 61 (Errors that are harmless or do not affect the substantial rights of parties do not require reversal); Jennings v. Smith, 165 W.Va. 791, 272 S.E.2d 229 (1980) (same); Pioneer Co. v. Hutchinson, 159 W.Va. 276, 220 S.E.2d 894 (1975) (same).